1949

Vern Frailey v. John C. McGarry : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

The plaintiff brought this action against the defendant for the purpose of rescinding a contract entered into by plaintiff and defendant on December 7, 1945 and to recover from the defendant the sum of \$2,600.00, which the plaintiff paid to the defendant in cash and labor performed by the plaintiff for the defendant.

The contract which plaintiff sought to have rescinded contains, among others, the following provisions:

“That the seller (defendant) for the consideration herein mentioned agrees to sell and convey to the buyer and the buyer for the consideration herein mentioned agrees to purchase the following described real property, situate in the County of Iron, State of Utah, to-wit:

‘All of Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 25, also Northeast quarter of Southwest quarter and Northwest quarter of Southeast quarter, all being in Section 6, Township 36 South, Range 16 West S.L.M. and containing 960 acres more or less, according to the official survey thereof.’

“It is agreed that in the event the buyer or any assignee shall make application to appropriate water or shall procure a certificate of appropriation to appropriate water or shall procure a certificate to appropriate water from wells located upon the said premises and said buyer or assignee or assignees shall thereafter default in this contract, the seller shall immediately become the assignee of any such application or appropriation and the state engineer of the state of Utah is hereby authorized to recognize said seller as the assignee of any such application and in the event a certificate of appropriation has issued to the said buyer the water right thereunder shall be considered as appurtenant to the said premises and in the event of default the title thereto shall immediately pass to the seller. The seller reserves one-half of all mineral rights and oil rights

which might be appurtenant to or belonging thereto.”

“Said buyer hereby agrees to enter into possession and pay for said described premises the sum of Twenty Eight Thousand and Eight Hundred and No/100 Dollars, payable at office of John C. McGarry, Cedar City, Utah, strictly within the following times to wit: Two Thousand and Six Hundred and No/100 Dollars cash the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged. The remaining balance of \$26,200.00 payable as follows, to-wit: On any and all lands where water wells permits are granted and allowing water for any given acreage, said acreage is to be tilled and cropped. On or before January 1st being termed the end of each harvest season said buyer is to pay to said seller, the sum of Ten Dollars per acre cash and in addition thereto five per cent (5%) interest on all deferred payments on each and every acre tilled and cropped until the full purchase price, together with interest has been paid. The above given \$2,600.00 cash payment receipted herein is to be credited on the next payment which becomes due and payable on or before January 1, 1947.

“Said monthly payments to be applied first to the payment of interest and second to the reduction of the principal. Interest shall be charged from this date on all unpaid portions of the purchase price at the rate of five per cent per annum, payable monthly.”

“In the event the Buyer shall default in the payment of any special or general taxes, assessments or insurance premiums as herein provided, the seller may, at his option, pay said taxes, assessments and insurance premiums or either

of them, and if he elects so to do, then the Buyer agrees to repay the seller upon demand all such sums so advanced and paid by him, together with interest thereon from date of payment of said sums at the rate of $\frac{3}{4}$ of one per cent per month until paid."

"The seller on receiving the payments herein reserved to be paid at the times and in the manner above mentioned agrees to execute and deliver to the Buyer or assigns, a good and sufficient warranty deed conveying the title to the above described premises free and clear of all encumbrances, except as herein mentioned and except as may have accrued by or through the acts or neglect of the Buyer and to furnish at his expense an abstract or a policy of title insurance at the option of the seller brought to date at time of sale or at times of delivery of deed at the option of Buyer."

"The Buyer and Seller each agree that should they default in any of the covenants and agreements contained herein to pay all costs and expenses that may arise from enforcing this agreement either by suit or otherwise including a reasonable attorney's fee."

The contract is signed by defendant John C. McGarry, as seller, and plaintiff Vern Frailey, as buyer. J. E. Thompson signed as a witness.

There are numerous other provisions in the contract which are not quoted but we do not deem such other provisions material to this controversy and therefore have omitted quoting such other provisions.

A copy of the contract is attached to the amended complaint (R. 24) and the original contract was received in evidence as Plaintiff's Exhibit "A".

The grounds upon which the plaintiff seeks to have the court rescind the contract as appears from the amended complaint are:

On the First Cause of Action it is in substance alleged that the plaintiff was induced to enter into the contract by the fraudulent representations of the defendant in that the defendant represented that: (a) there was ample water available to properly irrigate the real property described in the contract; (b) that the defendant falsely represented that he had a good title to the property; (c) that the contract is against public policy as expressed in the provisions of U.C.A. 1943, 100-3-8 which provides that a filing of a water right application must be made in good faith and not for purposes of speculation or monopoly; (d) in that at the time the contract was entered into the defendant was a married man whose wife was a resident of the State of Utah but that he did not inform the plaintiff of said fact or have his wife join in the contract so that she could be held to the performance thereof.

The Second Cause of Action is founded upon the failure and refusal of the defendant to furnish the plaintiff with an abstract of title to the property described in the contract; notwithstanding a demand was made for such abstract.

The Third Cause of Action is based upon the claim that the contract is against the public policy of this state and particularly U.C.A. 1943, 100-3-8 in that the defendant by the contract is seeking to speculate in the public waters of the state by attempting to sell land which was of the market value of \$1.50 per acre without water for \$30.00 per acre if and when plaintiff provides water for the land, and thereby defendant attempted to secure a profit of \$28.50 per acre or 2000 per cent if and when water is received by the plaintiff for irrigation of said land. That if the contract is held valid it will result in an unconscionable profit to the defendant as a result of his speculating in the public waters of the State of Utah without the defendant expending any labor or money in developing or putting to a beneficial use the public waters of the State of Utah.

In the Fourth Cause of Action it is alleged that the contract which it is sought to rescind is so uncertain as to render the same invalid in that it cannot be determined therefrom when, if ever, plaintiff is entitled to a conveyance of the property described in the contract, nor can it be determined from said contract when, if at all, the interest or the amount provided for in such contract begins, or the amount of the purchase price; that is to say whether interest is payable from the date of such contract or only on the amount that becomes due because some of the acreage of such land is irrigated, tilled and cropped. That no consideration whatsoever was given or agreed to be given by the de-

fendant for \$26,200.00 of the amount provided for in said contract and therefore such provision is invalid.

In each cause of action the plaintiff sought to recover \$500.00 as attorney's fees for the prosecution of the action. (R. 12 to 24)

To the amended complaint the defendant filed a demurrer to each cause of action (R. 25) and a motion to strike. (R. 27)

Defendants motion to strike was granted and his demurrer to the Second, Third and Fourth causes was sustained but overruled as to the First Cause of Action. (R. 29)

Thereafter the defendant filed an answer and cross-complaint (counterclaim).

In the answer the defendant denied that any fraud was perpetrated upon the plaintiff in the execution of the contract. (R. 30 to 34) As a further affirmative defense and as a cross complaint defendant seeks to have declared forfeited any rights the plaintiff may have in the contract because of his having failed to pay the taxes on the property described in the contract and because he has failed to plant any crops or till any of the land described in the contract notwithstanding he has filed with the state engineer applications to appropriate water to irrigate such lands and at least one of such applications has been granted by the state engineer, and because plaintiff has abandoned the contract. (R. 34 and 36)

To the answer and cross complaint the plaintiff filed a reply and answer in which he admitted that he had not paid the taxes on the premises described in the contract. He alleged that he went to the attorney for the defendant and through him made filings for appropriation of a water right to irrigate the lands described in the contract and denied generally the other allegations of the answer and cross complaint. (R. 38 to 41)

Upon the issues thus raised by the amended complaint, the answer and cross complaint of the defendant and the reply and answer of the plaintiff a trial was had. After the conclusion of the trial and the filing of briefs of counsel the court made and filed its memorandum of decision. (R. 62 to 68) In such memorandum of decision the court found, among other things, that the defendant had perpetrated fraud on the plaintiff as to the availability of water to irrigate the lands described in the contract; that the plaintiff had not established the lack of good title in the defendant; that the land described in the contract was of a value not to exceed \$1.50 per acre without water but with water was of a value of \$30.00 per acre. The court concluded that if the plaintiff would transfer his own, and secure a transfer of the filings to appropriate water held by Thompson, then and in such case the defendant should repay to the plaintiff the \$2600.00 paid on the contract together with the money paid by plaintiff and Thompson for filing fees, and together with legal interest thereon, otherwise the defendant should retain the money paid

to him by the plaintiff on the contract and defendant should also have decreed to him all of the filings made by plaintiff and Thompson and retain the land described in the contract free from any and all claims of the plaintiff. The plaintiff was given "fifteen days to give notice to the court and to counsel for defendant as to whether plaintiff and Thompson will transfer to defendant the water application herein referred to and in case plaintiff does not so elect then counsel for plaintiff (defendant) may prepare and submit findings, conclusions and decree disposing of the case in accordance herewith." The plaintiff gave no notice within the fifteen days allowed, or at all, that he would make the transfer of his water fillings or that he could secure the water filings of Thompson whereupon the trial court made its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree. (R. 70 to 79)

By its Judgement and Decree the court held that the contract of sale and purchase Plaintiff's Exhibit "A" was not subject to rescission by the plaintiff and that plaintiff take nothing by reason of his amended complaint; that plaintiff has defaulted in and has breached the said contract and the same is hereby declared to be forfeited and terminated and all rights of the plaintiff in and to all of the property therein described are hereby declared to be lost, cancelled, forfeited and terminated.

It is from the judgement so made and entered that plaintiff prosecutes this appeal.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The plaintiff and appellant assigns the following errors committed by the trial court upon which he relies for a reversal of the judgement and decree appealed from and for an order of this court directing the trial court to enter a judgement and decree as prayed for in plaintiff's amended complaint.

1. The trial court erred in granting defendant's motion to strike and in sustaining defendant's demurrer to the second cause of action set up in plaintiff's amended complaint. (R. 29)

2. The trial court erred in granting defendant's motion to strike and in sustaining defendant's demurrer to the Third Cause of Action set out in plaintiff's amended complaint. (R. 29)

3. The trial court erred in granting defendant's motion to strike and in sustaining defendant's demurrer to plaintiff's Fourth Cause of Action (R. 29) set out in plaintiff's amended complaint.

4. The trial court erred in striking paragraph 11 of plaintiff's first cause of action set out in plaintiff's amended complaint. (R. 16)

5. The trial court erred in striking paragraph 12 of plaintiff's first cause of action set out in plaintiff's amended complaint.

6. The trial court erred in striking paragraph 17 of plaintiff's first cause of action as alleged in his amended complaint. (R. 29)

7. The trial court erred in making its conclusion of law numbered 2 wherein it is concluded: "That said contract is not now subject to rescission because the plaintiff has not offered to rescind said contract in its entirety." That such conclusion is without support in either the evidence or the Findings of Fact and especially is it at variance with the allegations of plaintiff's amended complaint. (R. 77)

8. The trial court erred in making its conclusion of law numbered 3 and the whole thereof in that such conclusion of law is without support in either the evidence or the findings of fact and is contrary to law. (R. 77)

9. The trial court erred in making its fourth conclusion of law in concluding that plaintiff's failure to till and crop any part of said premises, to drill any wells on said premises for the irrigation thereof and to make any further payments thereunder constituted a breach of said contract. That such conclusion of law is without support in either the evidence or the findings of fact. (R. 77)

10. The trial court erred in making that part of its fourth conclusion of law wherein it concluded that "because of such default on the part of plaintiff the defendant under his cross complaint is now entitled to declare the same forfeited and terminated and all rights of the plaintiff thereunder forfeited." That such conclusion of law is without support in either the evidence or the findings of fact and is contrary to Law. (R. 77)

11. The trial court erred in its Judgement and Decree wherein and whereby it adjudged and decreed "That the contract entered into by defendant and plaintiff is not subject to a rescission by the plaintiff." and that plaintiff take nothing by reason of his amended complaint. That said judgement is without support in either the findings of fact or the evidence and is contrary to law. (R. 79)

12. The trial court erred in making its judgement and decree wherein it adjudged and decreed that all rights of the plaintiff in and to all of the property described in the complaint are declared to be lost, cancelled, forfeited and terminated, that such decree and judgement is without support in either the evidence or the findings of fact. (R. 79)

13. The trial court erred in that it failed to decide all of the issues raised at the trial of this cause and particularly in that the decree and judgement does not determine who is entitled to the water right applications which were filed by the plaintiff and Thompson in the office of the State Engineer. (R. 79)

14. The trial court erred in failing to find that he, the plaintiff, had farming equipment in the State of California which he would ship to Utah for use in clearing and preparing for crops on any land that he might purchase, as alleged in paragraph 4 of plaintiff's amended complaint. (R. 13-14) and as established without conflict by the evidence. (Tr. 10)

15. The trial court erred in undertaking to adjudicate and in adjudicating the rights of Jerold E. Thompson in and to the water right applications made by him in the office of the State Engineer notwithstanding he was not a party to this action and the court was therefore without jurisdiction to adjudicate such right.

16. The trial court erred in failing to grant plaintiff the relief prayed for in his amended complaint.

ARGUMENT

It will be noted that in his motion to strike the defendant sought to have stricken the allegation relating to the contract between plaintiff and defendant being against the public policy of this state and particularly those provisions thereof contained in U.C.A. 1943, 100-3-8 which in effect provide that the state engineer shall not approve an application to appropriate water when the same is filed for the purpose of speculation or monopoly. (R. 15) The motion is at page 27 of the judgement roll, paragraph 1 thereof. The trial court granted the motion at the time it was argued but at the beginning of the trial the court reversed its ruling and reinstated the allegations theretofore stricken. (Tr. 2) That being so we have not assigned such ruling as error.

It will also be observed that the trial court found that the defendant made the false representation alleged in the amended complaint and that plaintiff in reliance

thereon entered into the contract between him and the defendant. That being so we shall not at this time review the evidence touching that phase of the case.

While the plaintiff takes the position that it having been determined that the defendant was guilty of the fraud alleged in the amended complaint it follows, as a matter of law, that plaintiff is entitled to the relief prayed still we shall in this, plaintiff's original brief, argue the other assignments of error because even though, if for any reason plaintiff is not entitled to the relief prayed because of the fraud perpetrated upon him, still he is entitled to prevail on the assigned errors other than those touching the question of fraud.

THE CONTRACT BETWEEN PLAINTIFF AND DEFENDANT IS AGAINST PUBLIC POLICY AND THEREFORE THE COURT ERRED IN STRIKING THE THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION SET OUT IN THE AMENDED COMPLAINT

We have a law now in effect and in effect when the contract here involved was entered into which in part provides:

“It shall be the duty of the state engineer, upon the payment of the approval fee to approve an application if * * * * 4 The applicant has the financial ability to complete the proposed works and the application was filed in good faith and not for the purpose of speculation or monopoly.”

That the defendant seeks to secure to himself an unconscionable profit out of the public waters of this state is obvious. The evidence shows and the trial court found that the land without water was at the time complained of worth \$1.50 per acre and when water is available for the irrigation of the land it is worth \$30.00 per acre. (Tr. 122, R. 23)

The evidence further shows that the plaintiff signed a contract to purchase from defendant 160 acres of land in the latter part of November or the first of December, 1945 and at that time plaintiff signed an application to appropriate water for the 160 acres of land covered by the contract and that he paid the filing fee. (Tr. 8-9) That application was assigned to defendant at the time plaintiff and defendant entered into the contract here involved. (Tr. 10) It will further be noted that the defendant acquired the land described in the contract on November 7, 1945. (R. 60) The price paid by defendant is not made to appear, except the deed to him recites the sum of \$10.00. Mr. Edward H. Parry, who purchased approximately 1880 acres of land, including the land described in the contract, paid \$1.50 per acre. The sale was confirmed on October 9, 1945. (R. 56) The documents above referred to are found in the Judgment Roll and not among the exhibits.

Thus under the contract, if the same is construed as the defendant contends it should be construed, he is to receive a profit of \$27,360.00 if and when the plaintiff, solely at his own expense, makes application to appropriate water or procures a certificate to appropriate water from wells located upon the property described in the contract. If such a contract does not

constitute a speculation on behalf of the defendant in the public waters of this state it is impossible to conceive of transactions which may be said to constitute speculation.

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