1949

Vern Frailey v. John C. McGarry : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

In any event Frailey received permission to drill all the wells he intended to put down during 1946. He has never since requested permission to drill more wells and Mr. Ward testified that such permission could be secured upon proper showing of ability to put them down and put the water to a beneficial use. In fact the state engineer "was anxious" to have all applicants in the Beryl district get their wells down so he might have future data as to the availability of water. (Tr. 132).

There is not one word of testimony in the entire record to the effect that McGarry knew or that it was impossible to secure water rights to irrigate the lands. Mr. Ward testified that until about July 10, 1945, and perhaps as late as September 10, 1945, applications were approved as a matter of course within a few days after being received in his office; that sometime thereafter the state engineer's office adopted the policy of withholding permission to drill wells, but he did not know and had no

record of when that policy was adopted; that no public announcement was made of such policy. (Tr. 104 and 124). The record does not disclose whether the change of policy was before or after the Frailey contract was executed.

The only serious charge of misrepresentation in the amended complaint which can possibly stand as a basis for an alleged fraud is the allegation that defendant represented there was ample water available and that he knew it was impossible to secure a sufficient water right to irrigate the lands described in the complaint. It is, therefore, important to discuss this charge at some length. We submit there is no sufficient proof as to lack of ample water available to irrigate the land, and ni sufficient proof that the defendant knew it was impossible to secure a sufficient water right.

In his letter of April 25, 1946, after the governor's proclamation suspending further applications, the state engineer stated "it is believed that there is underground water that may be appropriated." (Tr. 54). The letter also gave permission to drill two wells and stated it was the unanimous opinion of all water users present at the meeting on March 20th that more wells could be drilled without seriously interfering with existing rights.

In commenting on the following testimony we do not set forth the specific transcript page reference to each bit of testimony since it is not practicable to do so, but

these facts are all shown by Mr. Ward in his testimony which is not very lengthy.

Frailey and Thompson never applied for permission to drill more than three wells. If they had, such permission would have been granted, providing they were in a position to put down the wells and put the water to a beneficial use. None of the applications have ever been rejected. They were all advertised as required by law and no protests were filed. About 40 wells were put down in 1946, about 40 more in 1947, and still more in 1948. There is no evidence that such wells did not produce water or that water was not available therefrom. Many applications were filed *after* the Frailey and Thompson applications were filed. As the water table is lowered in the Beryl district Mr. Ward would expect a lesser drop thereafter because the sage and other vegetation and wild plant life would not then use up and take from the ground a considerable amount of water. Neither Ward nor Frailey nor anyone else has claimed that the numerous wells which were put down in 1946, 1947 and 1948 were dry holes or produced but a minor quantity of water. No one, including Mr. Ward, claims that wells have been abandoned because there is no water available, or even that water rights have been affected through an overpumping of the valley. No wells have been ordered shut down or have voluntarily ceased operations through lack of water. The water table between the years 1936

to and including 1946, a period of eleven years, has gone down less than three feet—2.80 feet to be exact. Some of the years there was a lowering of the water table and some of the years it was raised. Mr. Ward did not claim, nor did anyone else, that such a lowering of the water table constituted a serious depletion of the water supply, or left any of the lands for which water was applied without an adequate or available supply. On the contrary, all of the figures, excepting perhaps the year 1946, were available and known to the state engineer when he held the meeting with the water users at the Wells school, and when the water users unanimously expressed the belief that more wells could be drilled without interfering with existing rights. Moreover, these figures were available when the state engineer granted permission to drill wells in 1946, 1947 and 1948, and when he advised Frailey that he believed there was underground water that might be appropriated. True it is that Mr. Ward gave it as his opinion there was not sufficient water “to take care of all of the filings made prior to December, 1945.” But he also testified that only a small number of wells under such applications had been put down or were being pumped, and that the wells which were being pumped when the Frailey contract was signed had “hardly any effect on the water table—that the effect was negligible.” Mr. Ward did not profess to know how many of the prior applications will ever be used, and if so whether in sev-

eral years from now or twenty years from now. It is significant that the state engineer is anxious for all applicants, including Frailey and Thompson, to get their wells down, so the effect on the water table may be determined. If the state engineer is at all sure there is no water available for these additional wells, or that no water was available in 1946, it was clearly his duty to reject all such applications. It is also to be noted that the availability of water, so far as future years are concerned, is greatly enhanced, and the Frailey and Thompson applications made more secure by the subsequent proclamation of the governor suspending further applications until this question can be definitely answered at some time in the future.

• It is pertinent to ask—was water available to irrigate the land in December of 1945 when the Frailey contract was written? The answer must be in the affirmative, since in the neighborhood of one hundred wells were subsequently put down—about forty in 1946, about forty in 1947 and a number in 1948. The following question and answer sums the entire situation up in a nutshell.

Q. (Asked of Mr. Ward). When these Frailey and Thompson applications were made in December, 1945, and had you granted permission to drill those seven wells, and had they (Frailey and Thompson) drilled those seven wells in the spring of 1946, is it your judgment there was water then and there available to irrigate the acreage mentioned in those applications.

A. If you exclude all the wells that weren't drilled covered by applications filed prior to December 13th, I would say yet. If you don't I would say no.

(Tr. 137).

This case was tried in the fall of 1948. About 100 wells were drilled subsequent to the execution of the contract in 1946, 1947 and 1948, and the average well produces 2 to 2.5 second feet of water. Yet three years after the drilling of about forty of these wells, two years after the drilling of about eighty of these wells, and after the irrigation season of the third year, neither the state engineer's office nor the plaintiff can make any claim that the wells were going dry or had depreciated in water supply or that the general availability of water was questioned.

It is not claimed that McGarry guaranteed or that it was intended or expected he would guarantee water would remain available for a definite number or for all future years. He did not guarantee nor was it intended or expected he would guarantee that the state engineer would not thereafter permit many other and later applicants to put down wells and perhaps deplete the water supply. The contract does not provide nor was it intended that McGarry would or could in future years control the availability of water. Is there any claim that McGarry assured plaintiff the water supply would hold

up in the future years, irrespective of contingencies, drouth, or what not? The fact remains that in 1946 and up to the present time there IS available water. The fact remains that the state engineer does not now claim there is no water available for the Thompson and Frailey applications, nor does the state engineer make any pretense that he knows when water will *not* be available. The most that can be said about the engineer's concern over the availability of water is that *if* everyone with an application actually puts down a well and pumps water consistently therefrom, and if all previous well rights are in use, there will not be a sufficient supply. Apparently there were 371 wells in existence when a survey was made between 1939 and 1940, and covering wells drilled before 1935. Only 23 of that number were being used for irrigation purposes in March, 1946, when the state engineer met with the farmers. The remaining wells were drilled and dug primarily to satisfy homestead requirements. Many of the 284 remaining wells had only irrigated a very small acreage of ground and the limit of the right of the well owners would be the small acreage which had previously been irrigated, a very small water right. Many have not been pumped in twenty years. Eighty-seven of the remaining 284 wells were domestic or stock watering wells that are no cause for concern. (Tr. 128 to 130). Of course numerous wells have been drilled and in use since 1940, but in expressing the opinion that there

is not sufficient water to satisfy all well rights the state engineer takes into consideration the use of *all* of the foregoing 371 wells, notwithstanding in 1946 only 23 were being used as irrigation wells and many had not been used for upwards of twenty years.

It is well settled that the fraud involved must relate to facts then existing or which have previously existed. Citing 12 R. C. L. 254; annotation in 51 A. L. R. at page 49. *Nielson vs. Leamington Mines and Exploration Corporation*, 48 Pac. (2nd) 439, at page 442, 87 Utah 69.

Since there was no shortage of water in 1945 when the contract was made, and in 1946 when permission to drill wells was given to Thompson and Frailey, and since all the evidence shows without doubt that water was available *at that time*, irrespective of what might happen in the years to come, the above principle of law laid down by this court in the above cited Nielson case is applicable.

We insist that the plaintiff himself believes water is available for the irrigation of the lands in question. If he did not and does not think so then why did he and Thompson drill the wells that have been drilled? Why have they so strenuously insisted on the right to retain all of the water filings? If there is no water available to irrigate land, the applications have no value, yet plaintiff thinks they have a value of excess of \$3000.00, because under the decision of the court he could collect such an amount which is the down payment with interest to

date, by assigning the water applications. Plaintiff contends there is no water available *under* the ground purchased from McGarry but available under the state ground and Sevy ground which he has purchased. He seems to contend there is no water available under the application for use on the McGarry ground but that the water is available under the same applications for use on other ground.

The very actions and course of conduct of plaintiff belies the contention that he ever believed his present claims to be true. Why did he not rescind the contract in March, 1946, when the state engineer advised him the applications would not be approved? Why did he request permission to put down the two wells? Why did Thompson apply for and procure a homestead entry, and why did plaintiff purchase state land and other land, and then apply for a change of place and use and point of diversion and subsequently drill wells on such other land? Why did plaintiff make a proposition to defendant to modify the contract and purchase only 320 acres? Why did he write the state engineer, through his counsel, that he had decided to let the land go back and forfeit his contract, but first he wanted to move the wells from the ground? Why did he write the state engineer on May 23rd, 1946, as follows: "I would like to write you in reference to the two wells you have allowed me to drill. Insofar as transferring location from some ground I am

under contract to McGarry for, to some ground I am buying from Heber Sevy of Cedar would this distance of change of location be permissible. Could McGarry prohibit me from doing this. I am now hauling pipe and well pumps * * * ?” Why did he write the state engineer on July 19th, 1946, “enclosed is letter from Isom. It is also the reason I need some good advice whether to try to purchase some of the land from McGarry or to forget it entirely and try and put the two wells you are allowing me on some other ground I can purchase from Mr. Sevy?” Why did plaintiff make demand on McGarry as late as the summer or fall of 1946 to produce an abstract of title, with the idea, so he said, that if the title was all right he could always change the wells back to the McGarry tract? Are these things consistent with the belief that there was no water available? And do they not show an utterly inconsistent and vacillating policy?

It is extremely doubtful whether the statements made by defendant concerning availability of water, under all the circumstances in this case, can be classed as anything excepting mere expressions of opinion, or trader’s talk, and therefore not actionable. The general principle of law that a mere expression of opinion, however erroneous, will not warrant cancellation of a contract, is so well established that citation of authority is unnecessary. However, it is not necessary to invoke this doctrine because we fail to find any statements or representations made by

defendant that are untrue. The testimony is to the effect that whenever and where in the Beryl district wells were drilled, long after 1946, water was found available. Frailley does not contend otherwise. He drilled wells himself and found water available. We reiterate—that alleged fraud involved in claimed fraudulent representations must, to be actionable, relate to facts then existing or which have previously existed. See Nielson case, *supra*. This case also holds, citing ample authority therein, that a statement as to a future act or as to the future conduct of a person would be in the nature of a mere opinion and therefore not actionable. See also *Ackerman vs. Bramwell Inv. Co.*, 12 Pac. (2nd) 623, 80 Utah 52.

An actionable representation must relate to past or existing facts and cannot consist of unfulfilled predications, or erroneous conjectures as to future events. 26 *C. J.* page 1087, Sec. 25, citing many cases from all jurisdictions. Also, 37 *C. J. S.* page 231, Sec. 11.

As heretofore pointed out, the only testimony in the record concerning the claimed misrepresentations, is the evidence of the plaintiff which was controverted by the defendant. It does not meet the legal requirement that fraud must be proved by evidence that is clear and convincing.

To support a rescission of the contract or cancellation of the mortgage, the evidence should be clear and convincing in character, and the preponderance of evidence support him who claims the

right to rescind. The rule is stated in *Ferrell vs. Wiswell*, 45 Utah 202, 143 Pac. 582-3 as follows: We have no right to overlook the wholesome rule that where deeds or contracts are sought to be vacated and set aside upon the ground of fraud and deceit, the burden of proving the alleged fraud is upon him who asserts it; moreover, that the fraud must be established by clear and convincing evidence. *Taylor vs. Moore*, 51 Pac. (2nd) 222, 87 Utah 493.

See also:

Greco vs. Graco, 39 Pac. (2nd) 318, 85 Utah 241.

Lane vs. Peterson, 251 Pac. 374, 68 Utah 585.

Nielson vs. Leamington, etc., 48 Pac. (2nd) 439,
at pages 441-2, 87 Utah 69.

By defendant's cross-complaint he seeks the judgment of this court that the contract be declared and determined to have been abandoned by plaintiff. It is alleged that plaintiff has not paid the taxes on the premises, and that he failed to crop and till the acreage contemplated by the applications for appropriation of water for which drilling permits have been issued, and has failed to make any payments due under the terms of the contract. By his reply the plaintiff admits he did not pay the taxes and admits he has not tilled or cropped any acreage or paid any money in excess of the down payment, but alleges he is not obligated to drill any wells on the land described in the contract or to harvest any crops. (R. 40). Clearly the defendant was entitled to the holding of the trial court that the contract has been abandoned by plain-

tiff and should be determined to be forfeited. In fact, plaintiff testified that he had no intention of proceeding further with the contract.

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